5

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

OCT 13 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS STEWART,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-213655

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARRETT O. COCO

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 799-2000

ROBERT M. DUDEK

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29201-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. The trial court erred in finding no discrimination in the State's use of peremptory challenges because (a) the trial court failed to comply with the third step in the Batson analysis which requires a court to meaningfully evaluate the persuasiveness of the prosecutor's group neutral explanations and make a deliberate decision whether purposeful discrimination occurred; and (b) Appellant proved the State's proffered reasons were pretextual because they were not applied in a neutral manner.
2. Where the State announced to the jury that malice can be implied from use of a deadly weapon and where the jury was asked to consider a lesser included offense of murder and self defense, the trial court erred in overruling Appellant's objection and failing to issue a correction to the jury.
3. The trial court erred in overruling Appellant's objection to unfairly prejudicial character evidence offered by the State.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is a South Carolina state prisoner currently serving a sentence of life in prison plus five years following his conviction for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. A Chesterfield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on the charges of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The State of South Carolina, represented by Kernard E. Redmond and Adam Foard, called the case for trial on December 3, 2012 before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley. Appellant was represented by Casey Secor and S. Boyd Young. On December 6, 2012, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as to the charges of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 563, lines 7-15). Judge Baxley sentenced Appellant to life in prison plus five years to be served consecutively. (R. p. 577, lines 18-24).

Thereafter, Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was involved in an extra-marital affair with the victim for about eight years. (R. p. 444, lines 21-25). In April of 2009, the victim attacked Appellant's wife with a lug wrench and was convicted of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. (R. p. 107, line 25-R. p.108, line 2; R. p. 416, line 12-R. p. 418, line 16). The victim served a prison sentence and was released in mid-December, 2010. (R. p. 452, lines 4-25). Appellant spent several days with the victim immediately after her release from prison. (R. p.419, line 24-R. p. 420, line 19; R. p. 423, lines 13-17; R. p. 451, line 19-R. p. 453, line 17). On December 28, police were called in response to an incident involving a dispute between Appellant and the victim at the Pageland gym; however, no arrests were made. (R. p. 215, line 3-R.216, line 3). The victim signed a warrant against the Appellant for trespassing dated December 27, 2009 and an order of protection dated December 29, 2009. (R. p. 319, line 24-R. p. 320, line 8). In the early morning hours of January 1, 2010, Appellant went to the residence of the victim. (R. p. 481, line 19-R. p. 482, line 4). Appellant and the victim began to argue, and a struggle ensued. (R. p. 490, lines 17-24). At some point in the struggle, the victim sprayed Appellant with pepper spray. (R. p. 163, lines 8-25). Appellant testified that he was blinded by the pepper spray and that the victim attacked him with a knife and hit him in the head. (R. p. 490, line 17-R. p. 494, line 18). Appellant testified that he was able to get a knife and that the victim attacked him outside the residence as he was trying to get away. (R. p. 494, line 19-R. p. 496, line 21). Appellant testified that he stabbed the victim several times and then fled to a nearby park where he was arrested by police shortly thereafter. (R. p. 496, line 22-R. p. 497, line 11). Police recovered two knives and a can of pepper spray from the front of the victim's residence. (R. p. 128, lines 3-11). The victim died from multiple stab wounds. (R. p. 304, lines 21-24).

## ARGUMENT

The appellate standard of review for questions of law is de novo. See Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (“We are free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.”); Fresmire v Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 302, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2008) (“This court reviews all questions of law de novo.”). The appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001).

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE STATE’S USE OF PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES DID NOT VIOLATE BATSON.

The trial court committed reversible error when it declined to find a Batson violation because (a) the trial court failed to adhere to the third step of the Batson analysis and (2) the Appellant carried its burden to prove that the State’s facially race neutral reasons were not applied neutrally. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the decision of the lower court and remand for a new trial.

During jury selection, the State used all five of its peremptory strikes, four of which to strike African American jurors. (R. p. 80, lines 13-15). Appellant is African American. The racial composition of the impaneled jury was two African Americans and ten Caucasians. (See Jury Rollcall List for Panel at R. pp. 580-92). The two African Americans in the impaneled jury, Juror 95 and Juror 59, were presented by the State only after the State had used four of its five peremptory strikes and the State had only one peremptory challenge remaining. (R. p. 71, lines 10-13; R. p. 72, lines 2-6). The State used its final peremptory strike to strike an African American juror (Juror 33). (R. p. 72 lines 19-25; Jury Rollcall List for Panel at R. p. 582). Appellant objected and the trial court held a Batson hearing. (R. p. 80, line 13-R. p. 92, line 6).

The four African American jurors struck by the State were Jurors 101, 33, 117, and 126. (R. p. 81, lines 19-21). The State excused Juror 101 because he had a prior arrest: "possession of cocaine charge that was nolle prossed." (R. p. 82, lines 4-9). The State excused Juror 33 because local law enforcement told the prosecutor that the juror had "prior incidents involving his . . . girlfriend who is now his wife." (R. p. 83, line 23-R. p. 84, line 12). The State excused Juror 117 because "the main reason, obviously, was the fact that he was unemployed . . ." but also because the juror knew the victim. (R. p. 83, lines 6-19). The State excused Juror 126 because the State observed her disinterested demeanor and that the juror was late returning from a break. (R. p. 82, line 22-R. p. 83, line 4).

Appellant argued that State's strikes of Jurors 101 and 33 were pretextual because there were other similarly situated white jurors with prior arrests that were not stricken by the State. (R. p. 85, lines 1-8; R. p. 90, lines 13-23). Appellant offered Jurors 105 and 131, both white and similarly situated with prior arrest records, (R. p. 90, lines 13-23), that the State did not strike, (R. p. 69, lines 19-22; R. p. 70, lines 11-14).

Appellant argued that the State's strike of Juror 117 was also improper because there was another similarly situated white juror that knew the family of the victim. Appellant offered Juror 128, as a similarly situated white juror who knew the victim's family because they came to her workplace "all the time." (R. p. 15, lines 15-24). Juror 128 was the first juror called and the State did not strike her. (R. p. 67, lines 16-19). With regard to Juror 126, counsel for Appellant noted that he did not notice any jurors come back late from a break. (R. p. 86, lines 11-17).

Regarding Jurors 101 and 33, the trial court found that there had been a previous, "negative relationship with law enforcement, and that has been found by our Court in the case of

[State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990)], to be a permissible reason for a strike.” (R. p. 88, lines 13-19). Regarding Juror 117, the trial court found the State’s reason that the juror knew the victim was a valid reason; however, the trial court did not accept the fact that the juror may be unemployed “as a valid reason to impose a strike.” (R. p. 89, lines 2-9). Regarding Juror 126, the trial court found that disinterested demeanor “has been previously permitted by our Supreme Court in the case of [State v. Casey, 325 S.C. 447, 481 S.E.2d 167 (1997)] and “[s]pecifically on the issue of being late, in the case of [State v. Wilder, 306 S.C. 535, 413 S.E.2d 323 (1991)] our Supreme Court has permitted a strike and found that to be a valid reason.” (R. 88, line 19-R. p. 89, line 1).

Purposeful discrimination in the jury selection process constitutes a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. See Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

A Batson challenge requires a three step process:

First, the [Defendant] must make a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race. If a sufficient showing is made, the trial court will move to the second step in the process, which requires the [State] to provide a race neutral explanation for the challenge. If the trial court finds that burden has been met, the process will proceed to the third step, at which point the trial court must determine whether the [Defendant] has proved purposeful discrimination.

State v. Giles, Op. No. 27353 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan 15, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 2 at 100).

- A. As a matter of law, the trial court failed to comply with the third step in the Batson analysis which requires a court to meaningfully evaluate the persuasiveness of the prosecutor’s explanations and make a deliberate decision as to whether purposeful discrimination occurred.

The trial court must proceed to the third step of the Batson process unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the explanation provided by the proponent of the strike. State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 520, 526, 748 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308,

314, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct.App.2006)). The United States Supreme Court has made clear that “[i]n deciding if the defendant has carried his burden of persuasion, a court must undertake ‘a sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial and direct evidence of intent as may be available.’” Batson, 476 U.S. at 93, 106 S. Ct. at 1721 (1986) (quoting Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 266 (1977)). See also United States v. Alanis, 335 F.3d at 965, 968-969 nn. 2,3 (9th Cir. 2003) (finding that the trial court committed an error of law by failing to “evaluate meaningfully the persuasiveness of the prosecutor’s [group]-neutral explanations,” and to “make a deliberate decision whether purposeful discrimination occurred”); accord, e.g., Lewis v. Lewis, 321 F.3d 824, 832 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding that “the court has a affirmative duty to determine if purposeful discrimination occurred” and the trial court did not fulfill this duty by concluding that a prosecutor’s state race neutral reason for striking a potential African American juror was “probably . . . reasonable”); Barnes v. Anderson, 202 F.3d 150, 157 (2d Cir. 1999) (finding that the trial court’s “murk[y]” analysis and refusal to rule on the credibility of either attorney’s explanation failed to satisfy “the court’s duty under the third step of Batson”); People v. Fuentes, 818 P.2d 75, 81–83 (Cal. 1991) (finding that the trial court “failed to take the next, necessary step of asking whether the asserted reasons actually applied to the particular jurors whom the prosecutor challenged”).

The trial court heard Appellant’s arguments that the State’s peremptory strikes were pretextual. However, the trial court never addressed Appellant’s arguments, but instead summarily concluded that each of the reasons proffered by the State were ones that were found to be “permissible” in previous cases. (R. p. 88, line 9-R. p. 89, line 16). Just because the State’s proffered reasons for excusing a juror has passed muster in a previous case does not relieve the trial court of its duty under the third step in Batson to meaningfully evaluate whether

that reason was applied neutrally in the case at hand. See State v. Oglesby, 298 S.C. 279, 281, 379 S.E.2d 891, 892 (1989) (“In this case, an examination of the circumstances shows that the solicitor's originally neutral reason was proven to be a pretext because it was not applied in a neutral manner.”). See also Garrett v. Morris, 815 F.2d 509, 511 (8th Cir. 1987) (“[T]he court has a duty to satisfy itself that the prosecutor's challenges were based on constitutionally permissible trial-related considerations, and that the proffered reasons are genuine ones, and not merely a pretext for discrimination.”); Lewis, 321 F.3d at 831 (“[A] court engaging in the third step of Batson has various tools at its disposal in order to fulfill its duty to determine whether purposeful discrimination has occurred. In an ideal setting, a court would use most, if not all, of these tools in evaluating a Batson motion.”).

State v. Giles is a recent South Carolina Supreme Court case which held that a race-neutral explanation proffered by the proponent of a preemptory challenge at the second stage of the Batson analysis need not be persuasive or plausible; however, “it must be clear and reasonably specific such that the opponent of the challenge has a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext in the reason given and the trial court to fulfill its duty to assess the plausibility of the reason in light of all the evidence bearing on it.” State v. Giles, Op. No. 27353 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan 15, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 2 at 103). Because Appellant concedes that the State offered facially race-neutral reasons at the second step, Giles is applicable to the case at hand only to the extent that it demonstrates the importance of the trial court’s duty to meaningfully evaluate the proffered reasons in the context of the specific circumstances to determine if discrimination exists in the third step. As Giles Court noted, “[r]easonable specificity is necessary because comparison to other members of the venire for purposes of a disparate treatment analysis, which is often used at the third step of the Batson

process to determine if purposeful discrimination has occurred, is impossible if the proponent of the challenge provides only a vague or very general explanation.” Id. In the case at hand, Appellant offered comparisons to other members of the venire for a disparate treatment analysis, but the court failed to meaningfully address each of the similarly situated jurors pointed out by Appellant and offer its thoughts on why those similarly situated jurors did not evince pretextual treatment by the State. (R. p. 84, line 13-R. p. 92, line 4).

In United States v. Hill, 146 F.3d 337, 342 (6th Cir. 1998), the Sixth Circuit found that the district court’s “abrupt conclusion” that the prosecutor’s proffered reason outweighed the defendant’s showing under the totality of the circumstances was inadequate. The Sixth Circuit concluded that the record “denies us the district court’s thoughts as to how [the circumstances of the case] weighed on the district court’s conclusion in the third step of the Batson analysis.” Id. at 342-43. Like Hill, the trial court in this case arrived at the “abrupt conclusion” that the State did not treat jurors “distinctly and separately among the races.” (R. p. 89, lines 10-14). Like Hill, the trial court in the instant matter denied us its thoughts on how the evidence of the similarly situated jurors offered by Appellant weighed on the court’s conclusion in the third step of the Batson analysis.

Similarly, in Coulter v. Gilmore, 155 F.3d 912, 921 (7th Cir. 1998), the Seventh Circuit found that the trial court violated Batson because “it never evaluated the differential manner in which the state handled—or rather, failed to handle—nonminority jurors who were similarly situated to the African-Americans the prosecution struck. A facially neutral reason for striking a juror may show discrimination if that reason is invoked only to eliminate African-American prospective jurors and not others who also have that characteristic.” Like the trial court in Coulter, the trial court in the instant case failed to evaluate the differential manner in which the

State handled the jurors who were similarly situated to the African Americans jurors that the prosecution struck.

B. Appellant carried its burden to prove that the State's proffered reasons were pretextual because they were not applied in a neutral manner.

A comparative juror analysis, sometimes called a disparate treatment analysis, is a side-by-side comparison of the characteristics of the challenged jurors to those of the non-challenged jurors. "Comparative juror analysis is an established tool at step three of the Batson analysis for determining whether facially race-neutral reasons are a pretext for discrimination." Crittenden v. Ayers, 624 F.3d 943, 956 (9th Cir. 2010). The United States Supreme Court, the Fourth Circuit, and the South Carolina Supreme Court have endorsed its use. United States v. Barnette, 644 F.3d 192, 205 (4th Cir. 2011) ("[A] proper analysis of a Batson claim requires that a court engage in comparative juror analysis." (quoting Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 232 (2005))); State v. Giles, Op. No. 27353 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Jan 15, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 2 at 103) ("[C]omparison to other members of the venire for purposes of a disparate treatment analysis . . . is often used at the third step of the Batson process to determine if purposeful discrimination has occurred . . .").

More powerful than the bare statistics are side-by-side comparisons of some black venire panelists who were struck and white ones who were not. If a prosecutor's proffered reason for striking a black panelist applies just as well to a white panelist allowed to serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful discrimination.

Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 232. See also Boyd v. Newland, 467 F.3d 1139, 1149 (9th Cir. 2006) ("[C]omparative juror analysis is an important tool that courts should use on appeal." (emphasis in original)).

In State v. Oglesby, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that although the State was able to articulate a facially neutral explanation for striking African American jurors, the explanation was in fact pretextual because the State did not apply those reasons neutrally. 298 S.C. at 281, 379 S.E.2d at 892. In Oglesby, the solicitor struck three black females because they were patients of a doctor who was a defense witness. Id. at 280, 379 S.E.2d at 892. The Court found that reason sufficiently neutral. “The solicitor negated his reason, however, when he seated a white female juror who was also a patient of the doctor.” Id. at 281, 379 S.E.2d at 892. The facts of Oglesby mirror the case at hand. In both Oglesby and in the instant case, the State offered facially neutral explanations for striking the African American jurors. However, just as in Oglesby, the State negated these reasons by seating similarly situated white jurors.

The State will likely argue that Oglesby can be distinguished because the proffered reason for striking the African American jurors in Oglesby (i.e., that the jurors were struck because they were patients of a defense witness), was exactly the same reason for both the African American jurors and the Caucasian juror; whereas, here, the State could point to small differences in the characteristics between the African American jurors and the similarly situated Caucasian jurors. For example, the State struck Juror 101 because he had a prior arrest; specifically a “possession of cocaine charge that was nolle prossed.” (R. p. 82, lines 4-9). The State may argue that Appellant could not produce a similarly situated white juror with a prior arrest specifically for cocaine, therefore his Batson challenge must fail. However, this is a distinction without a difference. Appellant produced two similarly situated white jurors with prior arrests: one with a prior arrest for assault and battery with intent to kill which was nolle prossed (Juror 131) and one with a prior arrest for simple assault and check fraud (Juror 105). (R. p. 90, lines 14-23). The proffered reason is in fact the same: the prior arrests engender a

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