ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County  
J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge  
2010-GS-13-0192, 2010-GS-13-0263

Appellate Case No. 2012-213655

RECEIVED

OCT 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS STEWART,

Appellant

RECEIVED

OCT 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.

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

We stated that, while the trial court should make on-the-record findings on each race-neutral reason provided by the State, as long as the record provides a basis in fact for the trial court's ruling, reversal is not required. *Id.* Further,

[w]here a trial judge fails to elucidate such a specific explanation for each race-neutral reason given, we will not remand the case for that Batson-related purpose

alone. This Court is fully capable of balancing the Batson factors in cases such as this one. Continued remand of such cases only wastes the trial court's limited resources and acts to further delay justice.

Id at 946–47 (quoting Burnett v. Fulton, 854 So.2d 1010, 1016 (Miss.2003))

Corrothers v. State, supra.

Therefore, if this Court is of the opinion that Judge Baxley failed to address the claims of pretext that were argued to him, a remand would be proper, rather than assuming arguendo that the prosecutor acted with discriminatory intent where the Appellant initially asserts that the trial court never addressed his claims when the finding was to the contrary.

*Pretext Was not Proven to the Trial Judge*

Alternately, Respondent submits that the trial judge concluded that the Appellant had failed to show that the prosecutor's race neutral reasons for the four peremptory strikes were pretextual and that he had proven purposeful discrimination. Within the order denying the Batson conclusion, Judge Baxley rejected that pretext was proven. In particular, he found: "Also, I do not find that there is a pattern here of jurors being treated distinctly and separately among the races, one decision for one and another decision for the other. That would be opposite or inappropriate." R.p. 89, ll. 10-14. In making an assessment comparing jurors, the potential jurors need only be alike " 'in all relevant aspects.' " State v. Scott, 406 S.C. 108, 749 S.E.2d 160 (S.C. App. 2013)<sup>6</sup>, citing Startzell v. City of Philadelphia, 533 F.3d 183, 203 (3d Cir.2008) (quoting Nordlinger v. Hahn, 505 U.S. 1, 10, 112 S.Ct. 2326, 120 L.Ed.2d 1 (1992)). Therefore, in determining whether potential jurors are similarly situated, our courts have focused their

---

<sup>6</sup> In Scott, the Court of Appeals found that a white warehouse manager was not similarly situated to black teachers, and thus defendant's strike from jury of warehouse manager as a person whose "employment related to supervising and overseeing" was not purposeful racial discrimination so as to support state's Batson motion, since duties of teachers in general did not involve the same supervisory aspects as duties of warehouse manager, namely ability to hire, fire, or demote adult co-workers

inquiry on whether there are meaningful distinctions between the individuals compared. See State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 540–41, 506 S.E.2d 301, 302–03 (1998) (finding three white jurors who were seated on the jury were not similarly situated to four black jurors who were struck from the jury because “[t]he white jurors did not have the same relationship to law enforcement as the black jurors” when the black jurors had relatives or friends who, at the time of the trial, were employed in law enforcement, and the relatives or friends of the white jurors were no longer employed in law enforcement); State v. Williams, 379 S.C. 399, 401–02, 665 S.E.2d 228, 230 (Ct.App.2008) (holding the trial court erred in finding an unemployed juror was similarly situated to an employed juror whose spouse was unemployed). An apparent uneven application of a neutral reason does not automatically result in a finding of invidious discrimination if the strike's proponent provides a neutral explanation for the inconsistency State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 334, 631 S.E.2d 294, 308 (Ct.App.2006). See also State v. Casey, 325 S.C. 447, 454, 481 S.E.2d 169, 173 (Ct.App.1997) (holding, although the State applied its facially valid reason inconsistently in permitting a like-situated female juror to be seated, the State's explanation of mistake for the omission was gender-neutral).

#### *JUROR 101*

Further, there was a record basis to support the race-neutral reasons as being valid. As to juror 101, the prosecutor stated that he was struck because of the prior arrest for possession of cocaine and the fact that the Solicitor's Office that was prosecuting the Appellant's case had been involved in the earlier prosecution of juror 101. R. 80-82. The Appellant asserted he had shown pretext at the trial by the fact that juror 131, a white male had a rap sheet that included a dismissed charge of assault and battery with intent to kill, although the defense admitted that the

same juror had been struck by the defense and he had a son in law enforcement. R. 84-85, 90. Subsequent to the rejection of the claim, the Appellant added that juror 105, a white female, had a record of either unknown as to arrest or conviction on bad check or simple assault. However, he also acknowledged that juror 105 was the sixth strike by the defense. In denying the Batson claim, the Court found the reason that there had been previous, obviously, from that negative relationship with law enforcement and was a permissible reason for the strike, citing State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990)

The Appellant concedes that the reason for the strike is a race neutral reason, but questions its validity. Under Batson, the assessment was still based upon a totality of the circumstances test. “[T]he trial court has a duty to assess whether the opponent of the strike has met its burden to prove purposeful discrimination.” Here, the jurors that h claims were similarly situated were clearly not similarly situated to juror 101. Alleged pretext juror 131 had a son- in-law in law enforcement - particularly the local Highway Patrol assignment <sup>7</sup>— is an obvious reason why juror 131 was not shown to be similar to juror 101. R.p. 39, ll. 10-23. [Further, although he had an apparent *nolle pros* of an assault and battery charge, it was not shown that in this record that he had been prosecuted by this Solicitor’s office]. Nevertheless, the breadth of the difference was additionally shown by the fact that the defense struck juror 131.

Similarly, the dissimilarity between juror 101 and juror 105 a white female were readily apparent. Juror 105 was reported to have a rap sheet showing a bad check and simple assault, but the dispositions were not clear. Nevertheless, juror 105 was also the same juror who

---

<sup>7</sup> Juror 131 indicated that he had a son-in-law in law enforcement with the Highway Patrol who was assigned to Chesterfield County which is where this crime occurred

indicated that she had been involved as a victim in two separate accident 18 and 20 years before and were involved in the prosecution of those matters. R.p. 40, l. 11 – p. 41, l. 16. She considered herself to be a victim of a violent crime and her response to the court as to whether she anything would prevent her from being fair and impartial gave a response “I don’t think” which caused the trial judge to asked an additional follow-up question as to whether she was certain of it. R.p. 57, ll. 5-12. Again, the evident dissimilarity was shown, and the defense used a peremptory challenge, #6, to have her removed. Under the totality of the circumstances, the Appellant failed to prove pretext by the fact that the prosecutor did not strike juror 105 and 131 before they were struck by the defense.

*Juror 33*

As to juror 33, an African American male who was the prosecution 5<sup>th</sup> strike, the prosecutor asserted that he was struck based upon the advice from the Chief of Police of Pageland that the potential juror had been involved in a tumultuous relationship with his girlfriend/wife. Since this case involved alleged domestic violence between the Appellant, his girlfriend and his wife, the basis of the strike was due to this information. The defense urged that the claim that someone told the prosecutor that the person would not be a good juror was insufficient and left it up to the court – although he noted that juror 33 had not indicated that he had any criminal domestic violence charges which the venire was questioned. R. 86. The trial judge rejected the claim of pretext for the same reasons as juror 101.

The failing to show the pretext jurors 105 and 131 were similarly situated are weaker here were the dissimilarity is even stronger. Juror 33 was struck based upon law enforcement

information which revealed a potential bias in the actual prosecution based upon the juror own life experience in his own domestic relationship. Although juror 33 had not been charged with a crime, the information would suggest to any reasonable prosecutor that it could impact upon the juror's treatment of a similar domestic situation. There was no similarity to either juror 131 who had a son in law enforcement or juror 105 who considered herself to be a victim of a violent crime and prosecution witness. As Judge Baxley recounted, this incident arose from a criminal domestic violence situation which is similar to the contentious situation concerning juror 33. The trial court plainly saw the evident difference and credible basis for the prosecutor's use of the strike R. 91-92.

#### *Juror 117*

The Prosecutor stated that he struck potential juror 117, an African American female primarily as being unemployed, but noted that she had also gone to school with the victim. R. 83, citing R. 14-15. Solicitor Redmond declared that unemployed had been found to be a race-neutral reason by the courts. R. 83. Rollcall List for Panel, p. 10.<sup>8</sup> The prosecutor also noted that knowing the victim may work both ways, since it was shown that the defense had struck juror 128 who asserted she knew the victim's family as seeing them "all the time" where she

---

<sup>8</sup> Solicitor Redmond made a correct statement of law in support of his use of the strike See State v Green, 306 S C 94, 409 S E 2d 785 (1991) (unemployment is a race-neutral reason) In State v Williams, 379 S C 399, 403, 665 S E 2d 228 (S C App 2008), the Court of Appeals unequivocally stated "employment, or lack of it, is a well-understood and recognized consideration in the exercise of peremptory challenges State v Hagler, 334 S C 623, 632, 515 S E 2d 88, 92 (1999) (stating unemployment is a race-neutral reason for a strike), State v Ford, 334 S C 59, 65, 512 S E 2d 500, 504 (1999) (holding place of employment is a race-neutral reason for a strike), see State v Adams, 322 S C 114, 125, 470 S E 2d 366, 372 (1996) (finding type of employment is a race-neutral reason for a strike" In Williams, the Court found pretext was not shown where "Jurors 78 and 81 are both white and they are not "similarly situated," as Juror 81 is unemployed and the spouse of Juror 78 is unemployed " In State v Martinez, 294 S C 72, 362 S E 2d 641 (1987), and State v Howard, 295 S C 462, 369 S E 2d 132 (1988) In Martinez the court found racially neutral reasons stated for strikes against black jurors of the same age and sex as the defendant who had possible criminal records and against a black juror who was unemployed Martinez, 294 S C at 73, 362 S E 2d at 642

works. Although he saw that the juror had known the victim in school as a matter that raised concerns, he stated the main reason for the strike was the unemployment. R. 83. It was not contested that the potential juror 117 was unemployed. However, the defense asserted that he had shown pretext with juror 128 because she knew the victim's family, but did not address the stated reason of unemployment and made no showing that any unemployed white potential jurors were not struck by the state. The trial court, however, found the main reason the state struck the juror was because she knew the victim and had gone to school with her and concluded that it was "valid and non-racial reason for the strike." R.p. 89, ll. 2-9. However, the trial judge cautioned that using unemployed should not be a reason for a strike in this locale. R.p. 89, ll. 6-9.

Assuming arguendo that the main reason for the strike was knowing the victim and having gone to school with her, the situation with juror 128 is dissimilar. Juror 117 stated that she had gone to school with the victim, but had not seen her for some time. However, the motivating reason stated by the prosecution was the juror's unemployment. In contrast, the alleged pretext juror #128 was not only employed, but stated that she "knows the victim's family" [but did not state that she knew the victim] and that "they come into where I work all the time." This reflected present contact with the grieving family members, but no response about knowing the victim herself. The Appellant contended that juror 128 was the first juror addressed and the state did not strike her. However, he ignores the evident differences between knowing the victim in school and that she had not seen her for some time,<sup>9</sup> in contrast to seeing the

---

<sup>9</sup> According to the Rollcall, p. 10, ROA 589, juror 117 was born in 1983. The crime occurred on January 1, 2010. The juror was 27 years old at the time of the crime. The victim was 25 when she died, two years younger than juror 117. R. 501. It was not presented when the last time juror 117 saw the victim other than it being some time. It should be noted that the victim had been convicted previously of a violent crime against the Appellant's wife in 2009. R. 447-49. As the prosecution feared, the prior knowledge about the victim was potentially dangerous to the state's case where the defense was claiming the victim was the aggressor.

members of victim's family where she works "all the time" including the present time after the death. There was no information that juror 128 actually knew the victim, only the victim's family, unlike 117. In addition, juror 117 did not state that she was friends with the victim, a concept that underlies their present argument. The Appellant speculates in their Initial Brief of Appellant that "it would be difficult to imagine a better juror for the State than one that had known the victim and been to school with the victim."<sup>10</sup> *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 13. To the contrary, where the victim had a history of violent conduct against others and the Appellant's theory was that he feared for his own life and that she assaulted him the night of her death, juror 117 could be the worst juror for the prosecution! R. 489-497. Further, the defense used its first peremptory strike against juror 128, reflecting his concern about that jurors potential leanings in the State's favor. Plainly, these jurors situations are dissimilar.

#### *Juror 126*

Juror 126 was struck by the State based upon his reason that the juror was late and concerns about a disinterested demeanor when she returned late. R. 82-83. The state asserted that this questioned their confidence that she would be a conscientious juror in this serious case. *Id.* Although the defense asserted that it did not notice any jurors being late or admonished, the trial court corrected him and found that juror 126 was at least 10 minutes late after a break. R. 86-87. The trial judge found that the reason and demeanor and being disinterested was a valid reason, citing State v. Casey, 325 S.C. 447, 481 S.E.2d 169 (1997). In addition, Judge Baxley found that being late to court was also a valid reason, citing State v. Wilder, 306 S.C. 535, 413 S.E.2d 323 (1991).

---

<sup>10</sup> This speculation was never raised to the trial judge by the defense

In the *Initial Brief of Appellant*, the Appellant does not argue that pretext was shown for the stated reasons for the strike of juror 126. *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 12-13. Since it was not argued in his brief, Respondent submits that he has abandoned any claim related to the strike of juror 126. An issue which is not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and precludes consideration on appeal. Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR; Video Gaming Consultants, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 342 S.C. 34, 535 S.E.2d 642 (2000)(Department of Revenue stated it was not waiving issue but failed to make any argument on the issue); State v. Bray, 342 S.C. 23, 535 S.E.2d 636 (2000)(it is error for an appellate court to consider issues not raised to it); State v. Duell, 329 S.C. 503, 494 S.E.2d 639 (Ct. App. 1997); State v. Black, 319 S.C. 515, 462 S.E.2d 311 (Ct. App. 1995). An issue is also deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory. In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235 (2001); State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 543 S.E.2d 541 (2001); State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 504 S.E.2d 324 (1998)(a one sentence argument is too conclusory to present any issue on appeal).

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